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Project Summary

Name of Survey

The name of the project is A4 Historic Architectural Resources Survey of Dereef Court/Park and
Adjacent Properties.

Boundaries of Survey Area

This project resulted from a Programmatic Agreement (PA) entitled Programmatic Agreement
among the National Park Service and the South Carolina State Historic Preservation Office; the
Advisory Council on Historic Preservation; South Carolina Department of Parks, Recreation, and
Tourism; the City of Charleston, South Carolina; Friends of Dereef Park; the Preservation Society
of Charleston; and the Cannonborough-Elliottborough Neighborhood Association Regarding
Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act for the Conversion of a Portion of Dereef
Park with Delayed Parkland Replacement Subjected to Section 6(f)(3) of the Land and Water
Conservation Fund Act. The PA specified the survey area to be the property formerly known as
Dereef Court and Dereef Park and the parcels immediately adjacent, equating approximately 6.65
acres. Project boundaries are Cannon Street to the north, Felix Street to the east, Morris Street to
the south, and Smith Street to the west. Parcels fronting on either side of these streets are included,
as indicated in the map below.




Number of Properties Surveyed

The total number of properties in the survey area (contributing and non-contributing) is 88. Of
these, 62 were recorded as being resources with historic or architectural significance. The
remainder were determined to be non-historic (i.e., of modern vintage and/or possessing no known
associations with significant persons or events) and were not recorded for that reason.

e x——— |

Figure 2. Sites recorded within survey boundaries.

Project Staff

The survey was conducted by Debra L. Morgan of Mount Pleasant, South Carolina, who served
as the Principal Investigator and Historian for the project. She also conducted the field survey
including architectural descriptions and photography. Dr. Ade Ofunniyin and Joanna Gilmore of
The Gullah Society, LLC, coordinated the public meeting component of the project, supported by
Jeremy C. Miller, Taryn Ricciardelli, and Joshua Mack. Aimee Beck and Cameron Wolfsen of
the City of Charleston assisted with meeting logistics. Michael Allen of the National Park Service
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provided expertise in community outreach. Susan Herdina, City of Charleston Legal Department,
served as liaison to coordinate between the multiple stakeholder groups.

Beginning and Ending Dates of Survey

Planning meetings and preliminary research for the project began in April 2016. Fieldwork began
in September 2016 and continued through June 2017. Public meetings were held in January and
March 2017. Historic documentary research concluded in April 2017. Completion of the final
report is scheduled for December 2017.



Project Objectives

This project is part of the Statewide Survey of Historic Places, a program coordinated by the South
Carolina State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO). The purpose of this statewide program is to
identify all cultural resources in the state, and to highlight those that are eligible for the National
Register of Historic Places (NRHP) and for local designation. The first objective of this survey is
to identify above-ground structures within the defined survey area, particularly those that retain
integrity and thus warrant inclusion in the Statewide Survey of Historic Properties. The second
objective is to create and disseminate a narrative and visual history of the survey area. The
narrative report will be available for public use on the City of Charleston website as well as through
local repositories such as public and academic libraries. Information gathered will also be used in
the creation of interpretive exhibits to be located at the former Dereef Park site.

The project began as a result of litigation over the conversion of Dereef Park into a private
residential development. The park was originally developed using Federal grant monies, which
placed restrictions on its future use. An organization called the Friends of Dereef Park filed suit
claiming that the conversion violated those restrictions. The outcome of the Section 106 process
resulted in a Programmatic Agreement being signed between the National Park Service (NPS), the
Advisory Council on Historic Preservation (ACHP), the South Carolina State Historic Preservation
Office (SHPQ), the South Carolina Department of Parks, Recreation, and Tourism (SCPRT), the
City of Charleston, the Friends of Dereef Park, the Preservation Society of Charleston, and the
Cannonborough-Elliottborough Neighborhood Association, with The Gathering at Morris Square
LLC joining as a concurring party. The agreement called for the City to conduct an architectural
inventory, prepare a narrative report of the area’s history (to be informed by two public meetings),
and make the results available for public use and viewing. In particular, the project was intended
to call attention to the Dereef brothers for whom the court was named.

Successfully reaching the project objectives depends on achieving several individual goals. The
first goal is to document a history that has often been overlooked. As Arthur Clement Jr. wrote in
1984, “It now takes time, patience and determination... to discover and study what should have
been in all of our public school history books 100 years ago.”' The project’s historic overview
component will raise awareness of notable events that occurred in this area, once a center of
African American community life. Many of these events were highly significant to the city as a
whole. A second goal is to identify sites which possess historic or architectural significance. Mr.
Clement’s column also pointed out that “We observe Dereef Court, off Morris Street, and never
think of Richard and Joseph Dereef, two freedmen who were wealthy speculators in real estate,
pillars in the free Afro-American community and senior members of the Brown Fellowship
Society.”> Many sites significant to Charleston’s people of color have already been lost, largely
through a lack of awareness. It is hoped that by identifying remaining sites a proper value can be
attached to them, thereby increasing the likelihood of their preservation. A third goal is to learn
from members of the community which events, places, and people they believe worthy of

! Arthur Clement Jr., “The Early Roles of Afro-Americans,” Charleston Evening Post, 5 April 1984, 12.
2 bid.



honoring. Based on their input, the exhibits created with information gathered during this project
will highlight that history in an appropriate and respectful manner.
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Survey Methodology

Background Research & Field Methodology

Extensive documentary research was conducted at the Charleston County Public Library, the
Avery Research Center and the Addlestone Library at the College of Charleston, and the
Charleston County Register of Mesne Conveyance. These repositories contain a great deal of
information on the general history and development of the survey area, primarily through the early
twentieth century. Additional research was done via online sites such as the Lowcountry Digital
History Initiative, Lowcountry Africana, and NewsBank, as well as through individual
organizations’ web pages. These sites were particularly useful for documentation of more recent
events such as Civil Rights Era activities. For research on the Dereef family, Ancestry.com was a
valuable resource; censuses, city directories, and databases such as death records and Freedman’s
Bank records all proved useful in fleshing out the brothers’ lives.

An important aspect of this project was the facilitation of two public meetings at which residents
were invited to share their stories and experiences of the neighborhood, either verbally or through
physical artifacts. The meetings used the History Harvest model developed at the University of
Nebraska-Lincoln. As explained on its website, “The History Harvest is a collaborative,
community based digital history project and learning initiative that aims, like the WPA’s cultural
initiatives, to democratize and open history.... The project makes histories currently shrouded by
obstacles to preservation visible by working with local communities to collect, preserve, and share
previously unknown or under-appreciated artifacts and stories. The artifact-based approach to this
project elevates family and local histories by making them more available. This approach also
challenges the supremacy of traditional, elite sources by dramatically expanding the pool of
historical artifacts easily accessible to students, scholars and everyday people seeking to learn
more about our collective past.”* This model seemed particularly well-suited to gather a history
that was likely to be less well-documented through traditional channels.

Previous Studies

All or part of the survey area has been included in two previous historic resource inventories. The
Feiss-Wright Survey (1974) was conducted at the time the original City of Charleston Historic
Preservation Plan was developed. It covered primarily the area south of Calhoun Street plus the
neighborhoods of Radcliffeborough and Mazyck-Wraggborough, with selected other sites being
included. The Geier-Brown-Renfrow Survey (1986} covered the area north of Calhoun Street to

3 Jacob K. Friefeld, William G. Thomas [II, and Patrick Jones, with the History Harvest Class, “The
History Harvest Handbook (Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska-Lincoln, 2015), accessed 27 April

2017, htip://historyharvest.net/HH HB pdf-edition.pdf, 6.
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US Highway 17, including the current project area. This survey was conducted in conjunction
with a proposed expansion of Charleston’s National Register Historic District. Both of the above
surveys were performed soon enough after the events of integration as to overlook the potential
value of sites associated with those events. Nonetheless, they provide a useful starting point for
inventorying earlier resources.

While not technically a survey, in 2009 Robert & Company of Atlanta conducted an Area
Character Appraisal (ACA) for the Cannonborough-Elliottborough neighborhood, of which the
current project area is a part. The ACA was a recommendation of the 2008 Historic Preservation
Plan update and incorporated an overview history of the neighborhood as well as a snapshot of its
physical characteristics.

National Register of Historic Places Evaluation

Resources documented during the survey were evaluated for their potential eligibility for listing in
the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP), the official register of historically and/or
architecturally significant resources. Cultural resources can be defined as significant if they are
50 years of age or older and “possess integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship,
feeling, and association.” The four criteria for evaluation are outlined as follows in the National
Register of Historic Places Bulletin 15, How to Apply the National Register Criteria for
Evaluation®:

A) Properties that are associated with events that have made a significant contribution to
the broad pattern of history;

B) Properties that are associated with the lives of persons significant in the past;

C) Properties that embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction, or represent the work of a master, possess high artistic values, or represent a
significant and distinguishable entity whose components may lack individual distinction;

D) Properties that have yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in
prehistory or history.
Criteria A, B and C are usually applied to architectural resources, while archaeological sites are
generally evaluated relative to Criterion D.

The survey was conducted from the public right-of-way and all assessments were based on exterior
architectural details, setting, outbuildings, and other features visible from the public right-of-way.

* U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, PDF of How to Apply the National Register
Criteria for Evaluation, (Washington, DC: rev. 2002), accessed various dates J uly-August 2017
(https://www.nps.gov/nr/publications/bulletins/nrb15), Section II.
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Documentation forms and photographs produced from the survey are in accordance with NRHP
archival standards.
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Historic Context

Early Settlement

The survey area is located within what is now called the Cannonborough-Elliottborough
neighborhood. That neighborhood, in turn, is a moder-day joining of several early suburbs known
as Cannonborough, Elliottborough, the Elliott Lands, and the Village of Islington.
Cannonborough, named for carpenter and mill owner Daniel Cannon, included a roughly triangular
area west of Coming Street as far north as Spring Street and as far south as Boundary (now
Calhoun) Street. Elliottborough, immediately north of Cannonborough between Spring and Line
Streets, was named for Colonel Barnard Elliott, a planter and member of the Provincial Congress.
The area was surveyed and streets laid out in the 1770s. Jonathan Purcell surveyed the Elliott
Lands (between Morris, King, Radcliffe, and Smith Streets) in 1786 for the family of that name,
while the Village of Islington was developed near the west end of Cannon Street in about 1800.
Islington Court remains as the only visual reminder of the village, running south of Cannon Street
just east of Rutledge Avenue.?

: .5 ’
| EL ) 2 l0e2
gy% 10303

B WENTWORTH D

5]

Figure 3. Map showing survey area relative to areas of historic suburbs. (Base map
from This is Charleston, Samuel G. Stoney, 1944, 2™ ed, 1975, 129.)

% Robert P. Stockton, “Suburbs and Sections,” in City of Charleston Tour Guide T, raining Manual, edited
by Historic Charleston Foundation, (Charleston, SC: City of Charleston Office of Tourism, 2011), 265-
270. As Mr. Stockton points out, the suburb of Radcliffeborough originally extended only as far north as
Vanderhorst Street. The area now known by that name includes the former Elliott Lands (see map). Since
Radcliffeborough historically lay outside the project survey area, it was not included in this report.
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The area was settled by the 1780s, although several creeks and a considerable amount of marsh
hindered development. At that time, it was outside the city limits in “Charleston Neck”™ and was
far enough from the city proper that land could be bought relatively cheaply. As such, the area
attracted immigrants and working people when the economy began to shift from agricultural to
industrial/ manufacturing in the nineteenth century.

Urban Expansion

The pace of economic expansion increased when the South Carolina Rail Road arrived between
King and Meeting Streets in 1830. With transportation of goods becoming less expensive and
more efficient, additiona! industries located in that vicinity. Concurrently, the proximity of
Cannonborough and Elliottborough to the new jobs enticed more and more people to move there,
close to their employment. Along with Hampstead (now known as the East Side) on the other side
of the railroad, the area was home to many of Charleston’s free blacks as well as a significant
percentage of the Irish and German immigrants flooding into the city.”

In 1849 Charleston annexed the area from Boundary (now Calhoun) Street north to Mount Pleasant
Street.? Maps from the period illustrate that much of the area remained too wet to build on. As
late as 1860, in fact, the Charleston Board of Health cited Joseph Dereef for having “four lots
between Coming-street and Jasper’s Court” that were “low and wet, and prejudicial to the public
health.” Despite the obstacles, however, construction did occur. The Bridgens & Allen Map of
1852 shows significant development along Cannon Street, though building was still relatively
sparse along the other streets.

8 Robert and Company, drea Character Appraisal for Cannonborough-Elliottborough (report prepared
for the City of Charleston, August 2009), 11.

" Robert N Rosen, 4 Short History of Charleston (Columbia, SC: University of South Carolina Press, rev.
ed., 1992), 84; Dale Rosengarten, Between the Tracks: Charleston's East Side during the Nineteenth
Century (Charleston, SC: Charleston Museum & Avery Research Center, 1987), 22.

® Bernard E. Powers Jr., Black Charlestonians: a social history, 1822-1885 (Fayetteville: University of
Arkansas Press, 1994), 23.

? Charleston Courier, 16 February 1860, 4.
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Figure 4. Survey area, 1849. (Edward H. Hall, Appleton s Hand-Book of American Travel, 354, online at
Perry-Castaneda Map Collection, https://www.lib.utexas.edw/maps/historical/charleston_1869.ipg)

"
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In 1854 Joseph Dereef sold part of his land to the City of Charleston for the extension of Morris
Street west from Coming Street to Rutledge Avenue.'® Dereef Court, north of the new extension,
was named for its former owner. It and other interior portions of the block were filled and
developed in the years between 1854 and 1861, when a census of Charleston lists 25 persons
residing there. Charleston’s neighborhoods traditionally included people of differing income
levels and ethnicities living adjacent to one another. Some stratification did exist, however, with
persons of higher income levels and higher-status occupations generally choosing to locate in the
lower wards (south of Calhoun Street) and the upper wards housing more working-class
individuals.

With the opening of the horse-drawn streetcar in 1866 and the ever-increasing availability of
residential land as agricultural land was developed and low areas were filled, the northern wards
continued to grow. After the Civil War, as the city’s black population jumped, the proportion of
African Americans in the upper wards expanded anywhere from 36% to 340% faster than in any
of the lower wards.'! The 1872 Drie's Bird's Eye View shows most of the streets in the survey
area fairly well built up apart from Felix Street, which like the courts was only recently created.
(Morris Street School can be seen at the corner of Jasper Court and Morris Street, and Calvary
Baptist Church is visible at Smith & Morris.)
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Figure 6. Drie's Bird's Eve View of Charleston, 1872. (Library of Congress Panoramic
Maps Collection, https://www.loc. gov/collections/panoramic-maps/?dates=1872.)

'% Joseph Dereef to City Council of Charleston, Deed Book H13, p. 237, Charleston County Register of

Mesne Conveyance.
' Rosen, Short History of Charleston, p. 130; Powers, Black Charlestonians, 248,251-252,
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The 1888 Sanborn Fire Insurance Company map (the first extant for the survey area) identifies
seven residences on Dereef Court and eighteen on Hertz’s Row.'? For the remainder of the 19 &
much of the 20™ centuries the courts contained small one- and two-story dwellings. Almost all of
those on Dereef Court had the side porches or piazzas typical of Charleston residential architecture,
while those on Hertz's Row did not. They were densely occupied, primarily by African American
families."’ All of the buildings were residential until 1944, when a different structure appears at 9
Dereef Court and is named as the “United Missionary Chapel.”

The Dereefs

Wealthy and prominent in 19" century free black society, the brothers Richard and Joseph Dereef
owned property in a number of places across the city, including the area which would become
Dereef Court. Richard Edward Dereef was born about 1798 to Francis and Nancy (or Ann) Dereef,
His brother Joseph followed four years later. The 1820 U.S. census shows that Nancy’s household
in “Charleston Neck” included 5 males under 25 years of age, 2 of whom were presumably Richard
& Joseph. Little is known about their siblings. Sister Susan appears in the 1830 census with a
household of 10, including 5 slaves; an 1834 newspaper advertisement announces an estate sale
for “the late Susan Ann Dereef” and notes that she lived in Nassau Street." By 1830 Richard is
listed as head of his own household; Joseph is not found by name, but is likely one of the two “free
colored males aged 24-35" in Richard’s household. The 1840 and later censuses show both men
with growing families of their own.

In 1821 the brothers petitioned the state for confirmation of their status as free men. Affidavits
from persons acquainted with the family provided acceptable documentation of their mother’s
Indian ancestry and in 1823 the two were declared to be free.'” They went on to establish
themselves as successful businessmen, eventually becoming some of the wealthiest men of color
in Charleston. Much of their prosperity came from a successful wood factoring business. Shipping
reports through the 1850s announced the arrival of boats carrying cargoes of shingles and other
wood products to Dereef’s Wharf on the Cooper River at the end of Chapel Street.!6

* From 1902 through the last map in 1955, the Sanborn Maps designate the street as Loeb Court rather
than Dereef Court. Hertz's Row changed to Hemlock Court on the 1944 map, and seems also to have
been referred to as Pine Court.

'} As an example, the 1880 census lists 13 households in six buildings on Dereef Court with a total of 47
individuals. In 1900 Hertz Row contained 79 individuals in 15 houses. Sanborn Fire Insurance Company
Maps 1888, 1902, 1928, 1944, 1951, 1955; Charleston City Directories (various years); Federal Census
1880, 1900, 1910, 1920.

14 The Southern Patriot, 18 October 1834, 3.

15 Theresa Hicks, ed., South Carolina Indians, Indian T raders, and Other Ethnic Connections Beginning
in 1670 (Spartanburg, SC: The Reprint Company, Publishers, for Peppercorn Publications, 1998), 309.
8 The Charleston Mercury, 4 September 1856, 2; 11 December 1856, 2; 25 May 1858, 2.
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Figure 7. Announcement of shipment to Dereef’s wood
yard, 1856. (Charleston Mercury, 11 December 1856, 2)

Both men had other investments as well. In 1860 Richard owned $23,000 worth of real estate and
fourteen slaves; Joseph had $16,000 in real estate and six slaves.

In addition to their business partnership, the brothers shared many activities in common. Both
were members of the Brown Fellowship Society (and both were eventually buried in its cemetery,
now the site of the College of Charleston’s Addlestone Library). Both were active in other civic
and fraternal organizations as well. Joseph belonged to the Christian Benevolent Society and the
Friendly Union Society, while Richard was a charter member of the Free and Accepted Masons
Union Lodge No. | as well as a vestryman of St. Mark’s Episcopal Church.!? Both appear multiple
times in Freedmen’s Bank records assisting friends and family members with transacting business.
While neither took an active role in politics, both responded when called upon: Richard was a city
alderman in the Reconstruction government of 1868, Joseph served as a juror in March 1875.'®
And, ironically, both died the same year: Joseph in June 1876, Richard in November.

Free Black Population

Almost from its beginning Charleston had a black majority, brought to provide skilled and
unskilled labor for the cash crops that made Charleston one of the wealthiest cities in colonial
America. Most were enslaved, but some, like the Dereefs, were not. In 1810, there were 1472

7 Michael P. Johnson and James L. Roark, Black Masters: a free family of color in the old South (New
York and London: W.W. Norton & Co., 1984), 222; Charleston Courier, 3 June 1876, 4; Charleston
Courier, 9 September 1865, 2; Charleston Courier, 25 June 1874, 4; Charleston Courier, 15 June 1874, 1,
18 Powers, Black Charlestonians, 174-75; Charleston Courier, 30 March 1875, 4.

19



free African Americans in the city compared to 11,568 enslaved. By 1860 3200 or 20% of
Charleston’s black residents were free- approximately 1/3 of all free blacks in the state.!

In Charleston’s early days, a high degree of solidarity existed among the city’s African American
inhabitants. Over time, however, solidarity dissolved as individuals strove to protect themselves
against white oppression. The black population divided along lines of status, class, and color. Free
persons, dark and light, attempted to secure their status by defining themselves against slaves.
Those who managed to amass property could define themselves based on economic class. In turn,
free blacks of less financial means might have more contact with enslaved persons than with the
wealthy. This was especially true because of the relatively mobile nature of urban slavery, in
which an individual might work away from home and thus develop outside social contacts. These
factors created a highly complex society in the first half of the 19" century. %

Despite having their liberty, free African Americans did not enjoy the same privileges as whites.
They could not travel freely, were required to obtain a white guardian, were restricted from using
many public facilities, and were forbidden to educate themselves or their children. They also could
not count on protection from a legal system controlled by whites. At no time did whites accept
persons of color as their equals. Beginning in 1820, new laws placed additional restrictions on
blacks’ activities. This was particularly evident following events which whites perceived as threats
to their supremacy, such as the 1822 Denmark Vesey uprising.

Vesey's exact date and place of birth are uncertain, but following the British evacuation in 1783
owner Joseph Vesey (whose last name he adopted) brought him to Charleston. After winning a
$1,500 lottery in 1799, the young Vesey purchased his freedom and set up a carpentry shop in
Charleston. His business prospered and he eventually had a family, though his wife and children
were not free. In 1816 Vesey co-founded an African Methodist Episcopal Church, which
authorities shut down just four years later. The church closing and the continued enslavement of
his children motivated Vesey to plan an insurrection.

Vesey modeled his rebellion after the successful 1791 slave revolution in Haiti. The plan called
for his followers to free Charleston from the slave masters, then escape before white authorities
could react. Two of his co-conspirators revealed details of the plot before it could be implemented.
When they learned of the plan, Charleston authorities arrested Vesey and his associates. Out of
131 men arrested, 67 were convicted and 35 were hanged, including Vesey. As a result of the
incident, whites increased measures designed to guard against black insurrections.?!

The degree to which the measures were enforced rose and fell over the years, depending largely
on white insecurity. Attitudes hardened with rising tensions in the years preceding the Civil War.

1% Jason Poole, “On Borrowed Ground: Free African-American Life in Charleston, South Carolina, 1810-
1861,” Essays in History (Charlottesville: University of Virginia Corcoran Department of History, 2012),
online edition, n.p.; Bernard E. Powers Jr., "Charleston, South Carolina: The Site of Slavery and
Freedom," in City of Charleston Tour Guide Training Manual (Charleston, SC: City of Charleston Office
of Tourism, 2011), 153-154.

2 poole, ibid.

2! National Park Service, “Biography of Denmark Vesey.” hitps://www.nps.gov/people/denmark-

vesey.htmn.
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As the political situation deteriorated in the late 1850s, the status of free blacks became
increasingly tenuous. The very existence of independent, prosperous African Americans
contradicted the arguments white Southerners posed in defense of slavery. Many free persons of
color left the state, anticipating the passage of laws enslaving all blacks. In time, their fears were
realized; even some who were freeborn were forced into slavery because they had no legally
acceptable proof of their status.** By the beginning of the Civil War, with few exceptions, the
distinctions between free black and slave in South Carolina were becoming less and less tangible.

Postbellum

The Civil War brought freedom but no easy solutions. Despite ongoing opposition from whites,
African Americans exercised their new political rights and civil liberties in the years after the war.
With support from the Union military government, they were elected to political office. Half of
the aldermen elected to Charleston’s City Council in 1868 were men of color (including Richard
Dereef). That same year, black state legislators participated in the development of a new
constitution which provided for many civil rights.

African Americans took advantage of new opportunities in education as well. The Avery Institute
on Bull Street had been founded by the American Missionary Association (AMA) after the Civil
War. The 1868 constitution mandated that publicly-funded education be open to all children. The
Morris Street School occupied the block bounded by Morris, Smith, Radcliffe, and Jasper Streets.
It convened under the military occupation government in 1865 as the first public school accessible
to black children, and was intended to serve both black and white students (although individual
classrooms were not integrated). By 1866, however, no white students remained.??

At first the school received much of its support from the North, either from benevolent societies
or from the Freedmen’s Bureau, and for a time Charleston authorities lived up to their obligation.
As Reconstruction drew to a close and Northern support dwindled, however, so did funding
appropriations for Morris Street and other schools serving African American children.”* Whereas
private schools received tuition payments that offset expenses, public schools were dependent
upon political goodwill that was slight at best.

Religion, too, saw major changes after the war. The church historically had been an important
institution in the black community. In addition to their spiritual function, churches “provided the
basis for a modest organizational life” at a time when few other opportunities existed for enslaved
blacks.?’ Nonetheless, prior to the Civil War, black churchgoers were relegated to the galleries and
white ministers commonly used scripture to justify slave masters’ authority.

*2 Poole, ibid.; Powers, “Slavery and Freedom,” 154.

3 Powers, Black Charlestonians, 137; Kimber Price, “Civil Rights in Charleston,” Lois Lane Properties
blog post 20 January 2015, accessed 13 November 2016, http://www.loislaneproperties.com/civil-ri
charleston.

3 powers, Black Charlestonians, 137-138, 158-159.

5 Ibid., 34.
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Once free to do so, black congregants were quick to form their own churches.”® Many African
American Charlestonians left the white-dominated churches they had attended before
Emancipation to establish new ones, with leaders of their own choosing.”” Every denomination in
the city saw new congregations being established. With the social upheaval following the Civil
War, the church was a source of stability and support. Furthermore, many Charleston religious
leaders played key roles in organizing regional and statewide associations.

Original members of Morris Street Baptist Church, established in the summer of 1865, came from
Citadel Square, Wentworth Street, and First Baptist Churches. They formed one congregation in
a small building on Morris Street and called Reverend Jacob Legare as pastor. By 1886, the
original 73 members had expanded to 2,700, outgrowing the original sanctuary. The congregation
met in Simonton School for a time until a new building was completed in 1909 at a cost of $75,000.
That church was destroyed by fire in 1964. Noted Charleston architect Augustus Constantine
designed the current building, constructed 1968-69.2

fe

Figure 8. Morris Street Baptist Church, c. 1925. (Photo from Souvenir of Charleston, S.C.:
America’s Most Historic City, (Charleston: Margaretta Childs Archives, Historic Charleston

% Ibid., 189-190.

¥ Bemnard E. Powers, Jr., “Foreword,” in John W. Meffert, Sherman E. Pyatt, and the Avery Research
Center, Charleston, South Carolina. (Charleston, SC: Arcadia Press, 2000), 3.

% Tbid., 192; Alphonse Brown, A Gullah Guide to Charleston: Walking through Black History
(Charleston, SC: History Press, 2008), 139-140; Morris Street Baptist Church, Souvenir Program,

Dedication Services (Charleston, SC, 1969), n.p.
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Figure 9. Morris Street Baptist, c. 2010. (Photo from church
website, www.morrisstreetbaptist.org/about us.php)

Calvary Baptist Church was founded in October 1865, very shortly after Morris Street Baptist.
Like Morris Street, Calvary’s original members left white-dominated churches to form their own
congregation. It too later gave rise to other churches; both Salem Baptist (1867) and Fourth Baptist
(1875) were organized out of Calvary. By 1868 the congregation had constructed a building at the
northeast corner of Morris and Smith Streets. Though it survived the 1886 earthquake, a year
afterward that structure burned and had to be rebuilt. The new church, also at Smith and Morris,
served both Calvary Baptist and Shiloh AME Churches for a time, until Calvary relocated to the
comner of Rutledge Avenue and Sumter Street around 1900. In 1989 Hurricane Hugo destroyed
the old church; it was replaced with the current structure in 19932 Afier nearly 150 years of a
religious presence on this property, in 2017 the congregation sold the church and relocated.

* Powers, Black Charlestonians, 192; David MacDougall, “Through fire and storms,” Charleston Post-
Courier, 2 October 2015, online edition, accessed 13 March 2017
(https://'www.postandcourier.com/features/faith_and_values/through-fire-and-storms/article 16a8ael0-

99e7-56ed-ac60-47dc65d12206.html).
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Figure 10. Shiloh AME Church. (Photo by the author, 2017)

Founded in 1867 from Emanuel AME (*Mother Emanuel”), Morris Brown AME Church located
at its present site on Morris Street in 1873. After purchasing the property, the members moved the
original building farther back on the lot and constructed a new sanctuary in front of it. In the 1950s
the wooden building was renovated, adding a brick veneer.*® The church hosted frequent meetings
and railies during the Charleston Movement of the 1960s.

Figure 11. Morris Brown AME, c. 1925. (Photo from Souvenir of Charleston, S.C.: America's Most
Historic City, (Charleston: Margaretta Childs Archives, Hlstonc Charleston Foundation), n.p.,
http:/cdl.li :

*® Morris Brown A.M.E. Church, Souvenir Program of the Centennial Anniversary of the Founding
(Charleston, SC, 1967), 2; Historic Charleston Foundation, eds., for the City of Charleston Office of
Tourism, Tour Guide Training Manual (Charleston, SC: City of Charleston, 2011), 437.
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Figure 12. Morris Brown AME, ¢. 2010.
(Photo from church website, hitps://morrisbrownamechurch.org/)

The institutional changes of the Reconstruction period would have a lasting effect on Charleston’s
society. The political ones, unfortunately, were not as long-lived. By the mid-1870s, Northern
support for the African Americans’ struggle had waned, but white Southerners’ opposition had
not. When white Democrats prevailed in South Carolina’s 1876 state elections it meant the end of
black political participation. By 1895, another new state constitution had replaced the one adopted
in 1868, imposing so many conditions on voting as to effectively disfranchise black citizens.>'

Loss of political power resulted in a spiraling number of laws intended to eliminate social contact
between blacks and whites. These laws, which included repeal of civil rights legislation,
prohibition of interracial marriage, segregated transportation, and separate schools, collectively
became known as the Jim Crow system. Coupled with increasingly violent repercussions for
perceived offenses, the rise of Jim Crow toward the end of the 19% century meant that for the next
sixty years black and white Southerners lived separate and unequal lives.?

Creating Community

The Supreme Court’s 1896 Plessy vs. Ferguson decision institutionalized racism by upholding the
doctrine of “separate but equal.” In truth, the equality part never existed. From religious life to
education to commerce, blacks created their own community.’? As in other parts of the South,
Charleston’s African American residents pooled the resources they had available to provide
themselves with services and functions denied them by Jim Crow. Organizations such as the
YMCA and the United Order of Tents, among others, provided not only social outlets but also
support services.

3 Powers, Jr., “Foreword,” 3.
2 Ibid., 4.
3 Ibid., 5-6.
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What is now the Cannon Street Y was founded by Henry W, Thomas in 1866, just 13 years after
the first African American YMCA in the US. It did not have a permanent home for its first eight
decades, working from a variety of locations including churches and private homes. In 1922 the
YMCA purchased two adjacent lots at 61 and 63 Cannon Street but lacked the funds to build on
them. It operated out of an existing house on the property until a major fundraising drive in the
1940s made it possible to construct their current building in 1950.

The United Order of Tents- more formally, the United Order of Tents of J.R. Giddings and Jollifee
Union- is a benevolent secret society comprised of African American women. Founded in 1867,
the first Charleston chapter or tent was chartered in 1913. Like other affiliates of the black
women’s club movement of the 19th century, the Order subscribes to the motto “Lifting as We
Climb.?* The group’s purpose is to benefit the community through supporting charitable and
educational endeavors.*’

Education was particularly desirable to African American parents because they recognized its
value as a means for their children’s advancement. In 1891 the Morris Street School was renamed
Simonton School in honor of Charles H. Simonton, former state legislator, Federal judge, and
chairman of the city’s Public School Commission.*® But like other facilities designated for African
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Figure 13. Students at Morris Street (Simonton) School, c. 1891. Stereoscopic photograph, Library of
Congress (LOC), hitps://www.loc.gov/photos/?g=Charleston+5C+189 1 & fa=location%3 Acharleston

% 7Cpartof%3 Astereograph+cards&si=slideshow.

*# Mary Margaret Schley, “The United Order of Tents and 73 Cannon Street: A Study of Identity and
Place” (MS thesis, Clemson University and The College of Charleston, 2013), 37.

¥ hid, 2.

3 Charleston News & Courier, 19 May 1900,
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Americans, Simonton suffered from a lack of investment through the 20" century. By 1942 the
building intended to serve 760 students was holding double and triple sessions each day to
accommodate over 20003’ The school board itself described conditions as “deplorable.”
Restrooms were located in a separate building outside; roof and window leaks caused plaster walls
and ceilings to fail; and the fourth floor (was off-limits and unusable for structural reasons.?® After
renovations in 1957-58 as part of the state’s “equalization schools” program, Simonton School
remained in use until 1973, when it was closed by court order as part of the reorganization
accompanying school desegregation.”® Shortly afterward the property was sold and the building
demolished.

Established by the Catholic Diocese of Charleston about 1905 to serve African American children,
Immaculate Conception School was first located on Sheppard Street. By 1923 it had an enrollment
of 500 students. Enrollment continued to grow, and in 1929-30 the school relocated to a two-story
brick building with a central tower, constructed on Coming Street at a cost of $80,000.*° In 1934
the curriculum expanded to include a high school; as late as 1939, it was one of only two accredited
high schools. for blacks in the city. By 1945 demand for space was such that a third story was
added to the building.

Figure 14. Immaculate Conception School, c. 1934, (Photo from St. Patrick’s Catholic
Church website, http://www.catholic-doc.org/ stpatrick/ immaculate.htm. )

%7 Millicent Ellison Brown, "Civil Rights Activism in Charleston, South Carolina, 1940-1970," (PhD
diss., Florida State University, 1997), 31-32.

# “Bond Issue Priority Projects: Simonton Elementary,” Charleston News & Courier, 9 May 1957; Mike
Gildea, “School Renovation Complete,” Charleston Evening Post, 23 September 1958, n.p.

* Dora Ann Reaves, “Simonton School Will Be Closed,” Charleston Evening Post, 14 August 1973, B1.

% “Do You Know Your Charleston? Immaculate Conception School,” Charleston News & Courier, 31
December 1934, n.p.; historical marker erected by The Moja Arts Festival, City of Charleston.

27



Following integration in the mid-1960s, Immaculate Conception graduated its last class in 1968,
after which it merged with Bishop England High School. It closed its doors in 1973 and stood
vacant for many years. In 2005 the building was rehabilitated as senior housing.

Figure 15. Radcliffe Manor. (Photo by the author, 2017.)

In 1895 Reverend John L. Dart founded the Charleston Industrial School to provide opportunities
for African American children who were poorly served by Charleston’s public school system.
Reverend Dart, a native of Charleston, graduated as valedictorian from Avery Institute in 1872,
After receiving his M. A, degree from Atlanta University, he became a minister, serving at several
local churches. By 1910 the school had outgrown its location. After repeated petitions from
Reverend Dart, the city school commissioners took over its operation in 1911 and constructed a
new facility. In 1921 the new school was renamed Burke Industrial School, the precursor of
today’s Burke High School #!

#! Charleston County Public Library Press Release Archive, “John L. Dart Anniversary: The Dart Family
and Dart Branch Library,” December 2012, accessed 30 November 2016,
http://www.ccpl.org/content.asp?id=130894&action=detail&catID=5380&parent]D=5368; Jon
Hale, “A History of Burke High School in Charleston, South Carolina since 1894,” Lowcountry Digital
History Initiative, July 2013, accessed 30 November 2018,

hltg://ldhi.Iibra[x.cofc.edu/exhibits.-’show/lﬁstog{ burke_high school.
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Figure 16. Colored Industrial School, Charleston, South Carolina, postcard, ca. 1910, (Dart Family
Papers, courtesy of the Avery Research Center; accessed at Hale, “A History of Burke High School in
Charleston,” http://1dhi.library.cofc.edwexhibits/show/history burke high school/origins of burke}.

Fighting Back

Popular thought usually places the beginnings of civil rights activism in the mid-twentieth century,
but in reality, black Charlestonians never ceased expressing their resistance to oppression. Through
the 19* century there had been challenges to incidents of racism, though they became less overt as
Jim Crow took root. From its founding in 1917 the Charleston chapter of the NAACP took more
direct steps to secure equal rights for black citizens, often utilizing the legal system. An early
success (1919) was opening Charleston public schools to African American teachers.’? Other
cases followed.

Beginning in the early 1940s Judge J. Waties Waring proved to be an unexpected ally. His rulings
resulted in equalization of pay for black educators in 1946 and elimination of the all-white primary
in 1947. Perhaps most significant was his dissenting opinion in the 1951 Briggs v. Elliott case, the
first case in the twentieth century to challenge the legality of “'separate but equal” schools. NAACP
attorney Thurgood Marshall represented the plaintiffs at the Federal courthouse in Charleston but
lost. Upon appeal, Briggs v. Elliott became one of the five cases argued collectively before the
U.S. Supreme Court as Brown v. Board of Education of Topeka. Although Waring was the voice

42 Powers, “Foreword,” 6.
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of the minority in the Briggs case, his dissent eventually formed the basis for the 1954 Brown
decision outlawing segregated schools.*

Legal channels were the means of choice for older activists, but younger people had other ideas.
In Charleston as in the rest of the country, soldiers returning from World War II sparked a new
wave of protests, refusing to accept that the country for which they fought would not grant them
equal rights. The Veterans Civic Organization, founded in 1946, was a prime mover in opening
access to many public facilities in and around the city. They pursued avenues more aggressive than
the courts, initiating boycotts and showing up- sometimes in uniform- to use segregated facilities.
Some older folk who had previously focused more on parity and accommodation criticized the
more confrontational methods at first, but soon realized they were often successful.**

Support from national organizations was invaluable as black Charlestonians organized themselves.
State and national leaders from the NAACP offered guidance from lessons learned elsewhere,
while NAACP legal staff led the charge in filing lawsuits challenging segregation. Membership
could cost an employee his or her job; nonetheless, a membership drive in 1955 increased the
Charleston chapter’s roster from 300 to 1,500 in just a few weeks. During the same period, the
Highlander School in Tennessee parinered with Charleston activists to encourage voter
registration. Led by Esau Jenkins, Septima Clark, and many other Charlestonian activists who
attended conferences at Highlander, black leaders established Citizenship Schools.** These
schools helped give confidence to registrants nervous about the hurdles they faced in attempting
to register.

From the late 1950s into the 1960s, activism became a “family affair” as younger participants
began to take on leadership roles. Youth from local schools, especially Burke, became active in
the NAACP Youth Council, participating in planning events.*® (One of the Charleston students,
James Blake, was elected national president of the NAACP Youth Council in 1959.) As occurred
in other parts of the South, the young people organized sit-ins and marches, boycotts and
demonstrations.

* William D. Smyth, "Segregation in Charleston in the 1950s: A Decade of Transition,” South Carolina
Historical Magazine 92 (1991), 102-105.

* Brown, "Civil Rights Activism,” 138-146.

* Smyth, 112-114.

% Ibid., 110-111.
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Figure 17. Students at Kress Department Store, 281 King Street, 1960. (Photo courtesy of
the Preservation Society of Charleston, accessed online at Clio, 25 July 2017,
https://www.theclio.com/web/entry?id=7247)

Churches hosted mass meetings where organizers and motivational speakers could transmit
information on planned events and boost morale among participants.*” They also served to
strengthen bonds between members of the congregation and provided support, often tangible as
well as spiritual. Protests saw limited success at first, but over time the “Charleston Movement”
escalated its acts of civil disobedience until the power structure was forced to take notice, The
Movement reached its peak in the summer of 1963, when over one thousand African American
protestors, many of them teenagers, were arrested.*® By the end of that summer a Committee on
Community Relations was in place, and many local businesses were accepting black patrons.*

In 1969 Charleston experienced perhaps its most dramatic confrontation, the Hospital Workers
Strike, which brought together civil rights workers and labor activists in common cause. Black
employees from the Medical College of South Carolina and Charleston County Hospital, led by
nurses’” aide Mary Moultrie (a licensed practical nurse whose credentials the Medical College
refused to honor), walked off the job to protest discrimination by white nurses and administrators.
When the hospital fired the workers, thousands of people rallied in support. Before the end of the
113-day strike the dispute received national attention as labor organizers such as Walter Reuther
and civil rights activists like Reverend Ralph D. Abernathy and Coretta Scott King came to the

7 Smyth, "Segregation in Charleston,” 116.
“ Lottie Joiner, “Charlesten’s Place in the Civil Rights Movement,” Time (online edition} Jun 19, 2015,

accessed 26 Qctober 2017, http:/'time.com/39287 1 3/charleston-civil-rights-movement/
9 powers, “Foreword,” 12.
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city to take part in protests. The Hospital Workers’ Strike is generally acknowledged as the first
instance of collaboration between civil rights workers and labor activists.*®

Figure 18. Walter Reuther, Mary Moultrie, & Reverend Ralph D. Abernathy:
Hospital Workers Strike, 1969. (Photo from Avery Research Center, accessed online at
http://idhi library.cofc.eduw/exhibits/show/charleston_hospital workers mo/prassrools organizing)

Investment/ Dis-investment/ Re-investment

Through much of the twentieth century the Morris- Cannon Street corridor was a hub- a prime
location for professional offices and commercial activity- for Charleston’s African American
community. At the turn of the 20™ century Dr. John McFall operated a pharmacy and ice cream
parlor at 173 Smith Street, on the corner of Morris. In 1950 four African American physicians and
a dentist practiced in a two-block stretch of Morris Street. (One of them, Dr. Charles T. Holloway,
occupied the same building at 61 Morris from 1935 until his death in 1964.)°' Agents at Rudolph
Real Estate assisted clients at the southeast corner of Cannon and Smith Streets, across from Pete’s
Store at the southwest corner. On the north side of Cannon, Dorothy’s Home for Funerals opened
for business in 1973. Within two blocks were Manigault’s Store on Smith Street (reported to have
opened only after dark) and a succession of small markets and sweet shops which operated at the
southwest corner of Cannon and Coming Streets. Former residents remember Green’s Pharmacy

% Jules Loh, “Strike was Beginning for New Alliance,” Charleston News and Courier, 24 August 1969,
12A, accessed at America’s Historical News 9 January 2017, http://www.infoweb.newsbank.com.

5! Elizabeth H. Alston, "A Century of Hardship and Progress: Black Charleston from the 1860s to the
1960s," in City of Charleston Tour Guide Training Manua! (Charleston, SC: City of Charleston Office of
Tourism, 2011), 159; Charleston city telephone directory, 1950, located at South Carolina Room, Main
Branch, Charleston County Public Library.
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and Manigault’s Sweet Shop, both located at Morris and Smith. Norman’s Grocery was on Morris
near Dereef Court. Former residents recall mom-and-pop stores (Manigault’s Sweet Shop,
Norman’s Grocery, Pete’s Store) and a cluster of small neighborhood businesses (Sindab Cleaners,
Weston Body Shop, Strobel’s Ice House, Burns’ Shoe Repair Shop, Eagle Shoe Shop), all catering
to nearby residents.>

With so many commercial establishments, plus the nearby churches, Simonton School at the corner
of Morris and Jasper Streets, and the YMCA at the north end of the block on Cannon Street, the
neighborhood was full of life. However, some of those same residents recall Dereef Court itself
as being less welcoming. Several have commented that “children avoided walking past” it and
that “kids going to the Y from Morris St would go to Smith & around the block rather than cut
through the court.”?

One of the most dramatic physical changes to the neighborhood took place in 1967. The opening
of the Crosstown Expressway-later renamed the Septima P. Clark Expressway to honor the
educator and activist- affected the wellbeing of the entire area. While the new thoroughfare
benefited motorists by connecting U.S. Highway 17 to Interstate 26, it cut the neighborhood in
two. Many residents were displaced by right-of-way acquisition. Others who could afford to
relocate chose to leave to avoid the increased traffic and associated noise. Coupled with
nationwide trends drawing people away from center cities into suburbs, the exodus broke apart the
close-knit community and contributed to a decline that lasted through the 1970s.>* As Charleston’s
historic district began to attract tourists from around the world, the more northerly neighborhoods
remained more resident-oriented and did not benefit from the investments associated with tourism.

By the early 1980s, however, people began renovating and moving back into houses in the area,
eventually leading the City of Charleston to acquire land for a park. The chosen site was along
Dereef Court, where the sole remaining building was the United Missionary Chapel, by then
owned by the Sons & Daughters of Joseph Society. (A 1971 plat subdividing the property on the
court into twenty townhouse lots was recorded but apparently never implemented.?®)

52 “Opposition Mounts Against Complex at Black Historic Site,” The Chronicle {Charleston, SC), 3
August 2011, 1; Mary S. Miller, interview with Lois Simms 12 August 2011, Dereef Court and Park
Collection, Avery Research Center, College of Charleston, Charleston, SC. Individual business names
and locations were provided by participants in the two History Harvests. Many thanks to all the
participants who shared their memories with the survey team.

%3 Harriett Jenkins Simon (first quote) and Meta Wright Waldon (second quote), interviews from first
History Harvest, 19 January 2017.

5! Robert and Company, Area Character Appraisal, 11-12.

%5 Herbert A. Niemyer, Jr., “Plat Showing 0.92 Acres of Land, on Dereef’s Court, Subdivided into Twenty
Townhouse Lots,” recorded at the Charleston County Register of Mesne Conveyance, Book C99, pg. 63.
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Figure 19. 9 Dereef Court, c. 1988. (Photo from Board of Architectural
Review files, City of Charleston Urban Design & Preservation Division)

The new park opened in 1993 with the vacant chapel/praise house still standing at the park’s north
end. Rehabilitation plans for the building were approved in 1996, but did not progress beyond the
initial stages of construction. The park remained an underutilized public space through the mid-
2000s, while the mothballed building suffered from a lack of maintenance.

In 2002 Charleston City Council approved a Planned Unit Development for a residential
development called Morris Square, which included the former Simonton School site south of
Morris Street and an area on the north side of Morris Street around Dereef Court. To accommodate
the new construction, the proposal called for a land swap between the City and the developer and
the abandonment of the court. The first phase of conmstruction took place ¢. 2005-2010.
Construction of the second phase began on the former park site, but halted when a neighborhood
advocacy group, Friends of Dereef Park, filed suit contesting the conversion of the parkland to
private ownership. Opponents feared the loss of historic resources in addition to the loss of green
space. The area is noteworthy for its African American heritage, exemplified by its connection
with the Dereef family.
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Evaluation of Recorded Properties

National Register Properties in the Survey Area

There are two properties in or contiguous to the survey area which are individually listed in the
National Register of Historic Places. It should be noted that the entire survey area is included in
the “Proposed Expansion Area of the Old & Historic Charleston National Register District,” which
was determined eligible for listing, but never actually listed due to owner objections.

Table 1. National Register-listed properties in or contiguous to the survey area.

'NRIS Number | Site Name Address Period of ‘When Listed
- Significance
96001223 Coming Street 189 Coming 1762-1909 1996
Cemetery Street
98000045 James Sparrow | 65 Cannon c. 1818 1998
House Street

{*Note: The cemetery is immediately adjacent to the eastern boundary of the survey area.
] Y aqj ry )

Surveyed Resources

The survey recorded a total of 65 buildings. Of these, fifty-seven or 87.69% were originally
residential, although a fair number have been converted to commercial uses. Six, or Just over 9%,
were built as commercial structures, while one was constructed specifically for religious purposes
and one is institutional in nature.

Table 2. Tabulation of Surveyed Resources.

Original Use Building Type Number Percent of Whole
Residential Single house/ SH influenced 41 63.08
Charleston cottage 1 1.54
QOriented to street 4 6.15
Identifiable style 6 9.23
Vernacular/other 5 7.69
Total Residential 57 87.69
Commercial Enframed window wall 1 1.54
1-part commercial block 1 1.54
Corner store 3.08
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Original Use Building Type Number Percent of Whole
Corfunercial (cont.) Combination 1 1.54
Other 1 1.54
Total Commercial 6 9.24
Religious 1 1.54
Institutional 1 1.54
TOTAL 65 100.00

Residential Buildings

Forty-one of the residential buildings surveyed are either of the single house type or show a marked
influence of it. The single house is ubiquitous in Charleston and has been used from the city’s
very early development through modern times. In its pure form the single house is a narrow
rectangle with two rooms on each floor, one on either side of a central stair, with the entrance
located on the long side of the rectangle perpendicular to the street. It often, though not always,
has a side porch or piazza which is accessed through a street door and serves as a buffer between
the public space outside and the private space within. It is a building type, not a style, as it can be
adapted to follow nearly any architectural fashion. The James Sparrow House at 65 Cannon Street
(Site #089-2109) is an elegant example of a single house done in the Federal style, and is
individually listed in the National Register. The residence at 181 Smith Street (Site #089-7882) is

a vernacular example.

Figure 20. Charleston single house:
65 Cannon Street, Site #0§9-2109

Figure 21. Charleston single house:
181 Smith Street, Site #089-7882
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Many of the residences which are not single houses nevertheless reflect the single house influence.
Especially common is the long, narrow shape and the presence of a side porch. Almost all are
vernacular, with only a few possessing the characteristics of a definable architectural style. A
vernacular example is 186 Smith Street (Site #089-7886); 78 Cannon Street (Site #089-7859)
exhibits clear Queen Anne detailing.

Figure 22. Single house influenced, vernacular: Figure 23. Single house influenced, Queen Anne:
186 Smith Street, Site #089-7886 78 Cannon Street, Site #089-7859

Although it has been altered, the house at 189 Smith Street (Site #089-7889) is best categorized as
a “Charleston cottage,” a one-story variation on the single house. The “Charleston cottage” has
been popularly known as a “freedman’s cottage™ because they were thought to have been
constructed primarily by formerly enslaved people. Research has shown, however, that that is not
the case; the cottages were constructed by many different individuals.*

Figure 24. Charleston Cottage: 189 Smith Street, Site #089-7889

% See Lissa Felzer, The Charleston Freedman's Cottage: An Architectural Tradition (Charleston, SC:
Arcadia Publishing, 2008).
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There are four examples in the survey area of houses whose piazzas face the street rather than
being on the side as is typical of a single house. Two of these - 60 Cannon Street (Site # 089-
7842) and 68 Cannon Street (089-7849) - are large homes on raised basements, while the other
two- 191 Smith Street (Site # 089-7891) and 197 Smith Street (Site # 089-7895) are relatively
modest in size. Only one house in the survey area (184 Smith Street, 089-7884) is of a bungaloid
style, which probably reflects the fact that the neighborhood’s development was essentially
complete by the time bungalows became popular in the early 20™ century.

Figure 25. Piazza parallel to street; Figure 26. Piazza parallel to street:
68 Cannon Street, Site #089-7849 191 Smith Street, Site #089-7891

Commercial Buildings

Although the neighborhood boasts many small businesses, particularly along Cannon Street, a
majority of them occupy buildings that were originally intended as residences. Because there are
so few commercial structures in the survey area, the typology of commercial architecture
developed by Richard Longstreth is not especially practical.’” However, three of the six structures
recorded that were built for non-residential purposes do conform to Longstreth’s categories.

Enframed Window Wall

The shop at 59% Cannon Street (Site #089-7841) can be construed as an example of an “enframed
window wall.” Its unadomed fagade is a smooth plane of stucco surrounding a display area of
glass and the central entrance.

%7 Richard Longstreth has developed a system for classifying commercial buildings based on facade
patterns. His typology includes seven basic categories: the two-part commercial block, the one-part
commercial block, the enframed window wall, the two-part vertical block, the three-part vertical block,
the temple front, and the vault. See Longstreth, “Compositional Types in American Commercial
Architecture,” Perspectives in Vernacular Architecture vol. 2 (1986), 12-23.
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Figure 27. Enframed window wall: 59%; Cannon Street, Site #089-7841

One-Part Commercial Block

The simple one-story masonry building at 56 Morris Street (Site # 089-7898) is an example of the
one-part commercial block type. It was constructed c. 1948 and has been used primarily as
restaurant and office space. It is one of very few remaining structures from the heyday of the
Morris Street business district, and also may be the only remaining building associated with the
Brooks family.

Figure 28. One-part commercial block: 56 Morris Street, Site # 089-7898
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Corner Stores

Two of the purpose-built commercial buildings are corner stores, another building type commonly
found in Charleston. As expected from the name, these shops are situated on corner lots and have
their entrances angled to face the intersection. They are typically two stories, with only the first
floor cut away; the second story projects over the entrance and is supported by a colurn or post,
often of cast iron. 168 Smith Street (Site # 089-7876) and 81-83 Cannon Street (Site # 089-7862)
are examples of corner stores. The small commercial building at 74% Cannon Street (Site #089-
7856) is an interesting combination of a corner store-style entrance with an enframed window wall.
The cutout corner occupies the right-hand side of the frame.

Figure 29. Corner store: Figure 30. Combination:
168 Smith Street, Site # 089-7876 744 Cannon Street, Site #089-7856

Other Commercial Types

Resource #089-7861, located at 80 Cannon Street, includes a one-story brick building at the rear
which once served as an auto repair facility. It has a tall stepped parapet with dogtooth detailing
but is otherwise undecorated. The structure is difficult to see in its entirety but does not appear to
fit into any particular commercial type.



Figure 31. Rear commercial building at 80 Cannon Street (Site #089-7861)

Religious Buildings

Although several significant churches exist in the vicinity, most are outside the immediate survey
area. Only one resource surveyed was originally built for religious purposes. The structure now
at 78 Morris Street (Site #089-7900) was formerly located at 9 Dereef Court. Prior to its relocation
the small one-story chapel was deteriorated but more or less intact. After being moved, renovation
began but was halted for several years due to litigation concerning Dereef Park. Construction
recently resumed; however, most of the historic fabric has been replaced due to deterioration.

r i - CLRL Y L
D [P AR LT L 1

Figure 32. Chapel/Praise House: 78 Morris Street, Site #089-7900.

From 1888 through 1928, Sanborn Maps show a pair of small residential single-story structures at
9 Dereef Court. The two are similar in size and are oriented in a linear fashion from front to back
(roughly east to west) on the lot. The larger building now known as “Dereef Chapel” or “the Praise
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House™ first appeared on the 1944 Sanborn Map, when it was denoted as the “United Missionary
Chapel.” lts footprint, also oriented east-west, remained the same on succeeding maps, although
different names reflected changing ownership.*®

On 9 October 1943 John H. White (identified in city directories as “Pastor of the United Missionary
Chapel”) applied for a building permit to “construct a | story Missionary Hall.” The building was
to be 20 feet x 30 feet with a maximum height of 18 feet, made of wood framing on a brick
foundation. The total cost of the improvements was estimated at $600.° Based on its architectural
style and construction, the 1986 Geier Brown Renfrow architectural inventory estimated the
church’s construction date as ¢. 1905-1915. However, this is not consistent with the building
footprints shown on the Sanborn Maps. It has been posited that the church is an adaptation of one
of the earlier residences, and it is also possible that the building was relocated to the site.

Whatever its provenance, the chapel resembles known praise houses such as Moving Star Hall
(NRHP, Johns Island) and Mary Jenkins Community Praise House (NRHP, Beaufort County).
These are simple, one-story buildings with wood siding and masonry piers, rectangular in shape
and most often with gable roofs. The entrance is in the narrow end, which may or may not have
an entry porch or foyer area. Jason Young has noted that “Though unadorned, the praise house
cloaked within its walls the heart of slave spiritual and religious practice.... For [the slaves], the
very architecture of the cabins had to be made amenable to their particular form of worship.”6

Praise houses developed on Sea Island plantations as a way for enslaved persons, who often were
required to attend churches with which they felt no kinship, to worship with methods of their own
choosing. By gathering to worship in its own way, the group developed and asserted its identity.
In the absence of formal preaching, praise meetings or “shouts™ were participatory in nature, with
the congregation taking an active role. (Some older neighborhood residents can remember as
children hearing hymns being sung and other sounds of worship coming from the Dereef Court
building.®') In addition to their religious function, praise houses also served as “centers of social
and political activity.”®® This use of religion as a source of empowerment foreshadowed the
involvement of black churches in the Civil Rights movement of the mid-twentieth century.

%8 Sanborn Fire Insurance Company Maps, 1888-1973

% Charleston city directories (various years); City of Charleston Building Permit records.

% Jason R. Young, “Spirituality and Socialization in the Slave Community,” in 4 Companion to African
American History, Alton Homsby, Jr., ed. (Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing Ltd., 005), 187.

¢! Paul Bowers, "A New Life for Derecf Park,” Charleston City Paper, 15 February 2012, 11; Ruth Finley
Jackson, interview from first History Harvest, 19 January 2017, and Carmen Simms Gaston, interview
from second History Harvest, 23 March 2017.

% Roberta Hughes Wright and Wilbur B. Hughes LI, The Death Care Industry: African American
Cemeteries and Funeral Homes, 2™ edition (Canton, MI; Visible Ink Press for Hughes Wright
Enterprises, 2007), 124.

% Alicia DeRocke O'Brien, "The Development of the Gullah Church,” MA thesis, Miami University
(Ohio), 2006, 59; Margaret Washington, "Community Regulation and Cultural Specialization in Gullah
Folk Religion,”" in Paul Johnson, ed., African-American Christianity (Berkeley, CA: University of
California Press, 1994), 62.

42



Institutional Buildings

One resource can be categorized as institutional. The Cannon Street YMCA (Site #089-7843),
was constructed c. 1950 to serve the African American community. The Y’s association with the
site goes much farther back, however; it purchased the property in 1922 although funds to build
were not immediately available. This was the organization’s first permanent home after decades
of operating from borrowed or rented spaces.

Figure 33. Cannon Street YMCA: 61 Cannon Street, Site #089-7843.
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Recommendations

NRHP Recommendations

In 1985, surveyors from Geier Brown Renfrow Architects recorded 70 sites in the project area.
Eleven of those have since been demolished. Of nearly 90 structures currently located within the
survey boundaries, 65 are identified and recorded as having historical and/or architectural value.
Of those, two were not recorded in the earlier survey. Both are mid-twentieth century buildings
that dertve their significance from the civil rights era.

Almost all of the sites recorded by Geier Brown Renfrow were identified as contributing to the
proposed expansion area of the Old and Historic Charleston National Register District. Although
a tremendous amount of investment has taken place in the area since the 1980s, a comparison of
survey photographs from that time to current appearance reveals that relatively few buildings have
experienced dramatic change. The two exceptions are noted below:

1. 82 Cannon Street- considered as non-contributing in 1985, probably due to insensitive
alterations; has since been rehabilitated. Recommend re-evaluation.

2. 78 Morris Street- considered as contributing in 1985. Building has since lost its integrity
due to being relocated and stripped of nearly all its historic fabric. Recommend re-
evaluation.

Four sites within the survey area were identified as worthy of consideration for inclusion in the
National Register (see Table 3).

One site (73 Cannon Street, Site #089-7854) is considered to be a contributing resource to the
proposed expansion area of Charleston’s National Register Historic District. In 2012 the site was
suggested for individual nomination; however, the idea was discouraged at that time as unlikely to
be successful. The possibility of revisiting the proposal is discussed at the end of this section.

No portions of the survey area were identified as potential districts. As mentioned above, the
majority of buildings within the survey area were recorded at the time of the proposed expansion
(1985-86). With the exceptions noted, all retain their integrity as contributing resources.



Table 3. Sites Recommended as Eligible for the National Register

Site Number Map Number Address/Location Historic Name
089-7843 1 61 Cannon Street Cannon Street YMCA
089-7898 2 56 Morris Street Brooks Restaurant/Real Estate
089-7891 3 191 Smith Street Clyde, Florence A., House
089-7897 4 28 Jasper Street Simms, Lois A., House

Figure 34. Locations of Sites Recommended as Eligible for the National Register

The Cannon Street YMCA (Site #089-7843) is recommended eligible under Criterion A for
significance in the areas of black ethnic heritage and social history. It demonstrates both the
determination of African Americans to provide for themselves the services denied them by a
segregated society, and their determination to achieve equal access when accommodation was no
longer enough.

The Brooks Real Estate office and former Brooks Restaurant at 56 Morris Street (Site #089-7898)
is recommended eligible under Criterion A for significance in the areas of black ethnic heritage
and social history by virtue of its being the only remaining building associated with the Morris
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Street business district. With the loss of other commercial buildings, first to disinvestment and
later to encroaching residential development, this property is the sole remnant of the thriving
commercial area that once served African American Charlestonians. In its incarnation as a
restaurant, it also was the first building constructed by Henry, Albert, and Benjamin Brooks as
they began to develop their family of businesses.

Two residential properties are already included as contributing to the proposed district expansion,
but should be considered for listing in their own right as well. The Bertie Clyde House (Site #089-
7891) and the Lois Simms House (Site #089-7897) both appear to be eligible under Criterion B,
also in the areas of black ethnic heritage and social history. The women who occupied these two
houses both are noted for their contributions to African American education before and after school
integration. They also both were known for being active in the local community during their
residence- seventy years for Ms. Clyde, nearly ninety years for Ms. Simms.

61 Cannon Street, Cannon Street YMCA:

The Cannon Street Y is recommended as eligible under Criterion A for significance in the areas of
black ethnic heritage and social history because of its association with the Cannon Street All-Stars,
a youth baseball team that became the focus for a civil rights controversy in the 1950s. The
building includes an entrance lobby, whose flat roof, cantilevered canopy, and metal windows
evoke the International Style of architecture, with a gymnasium behind. A low-pitched gable roof
was added above the main entrance in the early 1990s; otherwise the building is unaltered.

What is now the Cannon Street Y was founded by Henry W. Thomas in 1866, just 13 years after
the first African American YMCA in the US. It did not have a permanent home for its first eight
decades, working from a variety of locations including churches and private homes. In 1922 the
YMCA purchased two adjacent lots at 61 and 63 Cannon Street but lacked the funds to build on
them. It operated out of an existing house on the property until a major fundraising drive in the
1940s made it possible to construct their current building in 1950.

Figure 35. Cannon Street YMCA, 61 Cannon Street (Site #089-7843)
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In its 150 years of existence, the Cannon Street Y has provided a variety of academic, social, and
sporting programs. Perhaps none have been more widely known than the 1955 Cannon Street All-
Stars.

Prominent African American businessman Robert Morrison, then president of the YMCA, applied
to Little League Baseball in 1953 for a charter for a league to serve the black children of
Charleston. The next year, coaches selected the best players for an All-Star team to represent the
league in the city Little League tournament. But the city tournament was for whites only. The
Cannon Street All-Stars won the city championship by forfeit when the all-white teams, led by
state Little League director and Charlestonian Danny Jones, boycotted the tournament rather than

play them.

The same thing happened when the All-Stars went on to the state tournament. When Little League
Baseball (whose rules prohibited racial discrimination) refused to institute a segregated state
tournament, Jones resigned and started an independent league for whites only.®* The departure of
the white teams left the Cannon Street All-Stars state champions by default. Again, when the team
went to the regional tournament in Rome, Georgia, they found no opponents. However, Little
League rules decreed that teams could not advance by forfeit, so the All-Stars were deemed
ineligible to play in the Little League World Series.

Although they were not allowed to compete, the team traveled to Williamsport, Pennsylvania, to
attend the Series as guests of Little League Baseball. They practiced to chants of “Let them play!”
and were introduced with their coaches before the championship game, but could not take the

field.5

In 2002, surviving members of the Cannon Street All-Stars returned to Williamsport to be honored
as 1955 South Carolina state champions. The team was inducted into Charleston’s Baseball Hall

of Fame in 2006.

# The new league was originally called Little Boys’ Baseball but in 1962 was required to change its
name. Its 390 leagues became known collectively as Dixie Youth Baseball.

65 Gene Sapakoff, “Little League’s Civil War,” Sports lllustrated online edition, 30 October 1995,
accessed 2 November 2016, https://www.si.com/vaul/1995/10/30/8098327/little-leagues-civil-war-in-
53-a-black-allstar-team-was-sidelined-by-a-racial-boycott-in-south-carolina#, 26-30; “This month we
remember the 1955 Cannon Street YMCA All-Stars,” Charleston Chronicle, 1 August 2014, accessed 3
November 2016, http://www.charlestonchronicle.net/85952/2152/this-month-we-remember-the-1955-

cannon-street-ymca-allstars.
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Figure 37. Cannon Street All Stars, 1955. (“1955 Little League Team from
Charleston, SC, to Be Honored at Little League Baseball World Series,”
6 August 2002, accessed 1 June 2017, www. littleleague org/Page56510.aspx.)

Figure 38. Cannon Street All Stars, 2002. (Ibid.)
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Figure 39. Cannon Street YMCA, 1985. (Photo by Bill Jordan, Charleston Evening Post,
30 July 1985, 2-A)

56 Morris Street, Brooks Restaurant/ Real Estate:

The former Brooks Restaurant at 56 Morris Street is recommended as eligible at the local level
under Criterion A in the areas of black ethnic heritage and social history for its association with
civil rights era activities. Although it is in poor condition, the building retains its integrity, with
the only alterations being some window infill on the west elevation and what appears to be a
replacement entrance door. The wrought-iron guards over its windows, the building’s only
decoration, are the work of intemationally-known master craftsman Philip Simmons.

From the late 1940s through the 1960s the Brooks brothers (Henry, Benjamin, and Albert)
launched several hospitality-oriented businesses which attracted custom from African American
travelers who were not allowed in white-owned hotels or restaurants. At various times the Brooks
Pool Parlor, the Brooks Grill, the Brooks Motel, the Brooks Restaurant, and Albert N. Brooks Real
Estate were all located at or within a few doors of the intersection of Felix and Morris.

56 Morris is believed to be the first building constructed by the brothers as they began to develop
their family of businesses. Like the motel next door, it catered to African American travelers, as
well as area residents who could not use whites-only facilities. When the brothers opened a larger
restaurant on the south side of Morris Street, Albert Brooks located his real estate office in the old
one across the street.
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Figure 41. Morris Street at Felix Street, looking east. c. 1975. (Photo from “Blacks Missing
Out In Charleston Hotel Boom,” Charleston Chronicle, 11 February 2015, online edition,

accessed 13 November 2016, http://www.charlestonchronicle.net/9294/2 152/blacks-missing-

out-in-charleston-hotel-boom.)

As the Brooks business empire was blossoming in the late 1940s, returned veteran Albert Brooks
played a leading role in the Veterans Civic Organization (VCO). Founded in 1946 by a group of
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black Charlestonians who had served in the recent war, the VCO was a prime mover in
desegregating Hampton Park, County Hall, and other publicly owned facilities, eventually to
include efforts to integrate the College of Charleston. Albert Brooks served as the organization's
first president. Even when it put the family business at risk, he (with the support of his brothers
and business partners) persisted in the VCO’s goal of opening equal access for African Americans.
The younger men’s determination to take a firm stand gradually influenced older community
leaders to take a less conciliatory, more assertive position in seeking equal rights. The trend
culminated in the Charleston Movement of the 1960s, in which young people {most still in their
teens) led the protests.5¢

The Brooks Motel (60 Morris Street, no longer extant) housed many civil rights leaders who
came to Charleston in support of protest activities here. Constructed by the H.A. DeCosta
Company (owned by another prominent African American family), the motel opened in 1963. It
sheltered such nationally known activists as Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., Reverend Ralph D.
Abernathy, and future mayor of Atlanta Andrew Young. However, as more lodging options
became available after desegregation, the motel’s clientele dwindled. By the mid-1990s the
building had fallen into decline. It was demolished c. 2000 and the site was redeveloped as
private residences.

OPEN HOUSE SUNDAY, MAY 5, 4:30-7:00 PM.

RLBERT & BENJAMIN BROOKS l . E

| announces THE
OF THEIR NEW AMD

CHARLESTONS FIRST NEGRO

MOTEL

ALBIRT & pDUAMD

BROOKS MOTEL

Felix & Morris Streets, Chsas., S. C. Dial RA 3-9264

Figure 42. Advertisement for opening of Brooks Motel (Charleston Evening
Post, 4 May 1963)

5 Brown, "Civil Rights Activism,” 138-146.
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191 Smith Street, Florence Alberta “Bertie” Clyde House:

The Clyde House is significant at the local level under Criterion B for its association with
Florence Alberta Clyde, a prominent African American educator. The two-story house was built
about 1845 by C.C. Herron for his nephew William Herron. It is a wood frame vernacular
building with a one-story porch across the front, battered posts resting on brick bases, cheek-
walled steps, and scalloped molding at the cornice. The house has had an addition to the rear but

retains its basic integrity.

ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

Figure 43. Bertie Clyde House, 191 Smith Street (Site #089-7891)

Florence A. “Bertie” Clyde was born to John & Harriet M. Clyde in 1873. Harriet Clyde
purchased 191 Smith Street in 1897 and moved into the house with her husband and four
daughters shortly after purchasing it. Bertie, the oldest, resided there until her death in 1967. She
graduated from Avery Normal Institute in Charleston, joining the faculty in 1902. Beginning as
an 8" grade teacher, Ms. Clyde was eventually placed in charge of the “Normal program”
(teacher training). She taught at Avery until 1943-44 when she was named acting principal.
After spending many summers pursuing advanced education at Columbia University, the
University of Pennsylvania, and South Carolina State University (where she also directed a
summer program for teachers), Ms. Clyde received a lifetime teaching certificate from the State
of South Carolina. In 1960 the former East Bay Street Elementary School was renamed Sanders-
Clyde Elementary for her & Ellen Sanders, another well-known Avery-trained educator.®’

57 Pam Simons, Tracie Miller and Rhett Dukes, “What's in a name? Part 1 of 4,” Charleston Promise
Neighborhood blog entry originally posted 14 April 2014, accessed 4 May 2017,

http:/fcharlestongromise.org[whats-in-a-name-part-1-of-4-’; "CHS Middle Passage Remembrance,”

Facebook post originally created 24 May 2016, accessed 4 May 2017,

htps://www.facebook.com/CH SRemembrance/posts/537670066412891: “Dereef Park Neighborhood
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Figu